# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 3/21/2018 8:54 AM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

Supreme Court No. 95590-5

# SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

-----COA No. 75876-4-I

In re the Marriage of:

JOHN WILLIAM LAIDLAW,

Appellant,

v.

## DANAE DIANA NKA ZOELLIN,

Respondent.

# AMENDED JOHN W. LAIDLAW'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

Gregory M. Miller, WSBA 14459 miller@carneylaw.com

CARNEY BADLEY SPELLMAN, P.S. 701 Fifth Avenue, Suite 3600 Seattle, Washington 98104-7010 Telephone: (206) 622-8020 Facsimile: (206) 467-8215 Counsel for John William Laidlaw

#

IV.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE			
V.	REAS	ONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED9		
	A.	Review Should Be Granted Per RAP 13.4(b)(4) Because The Legal Standard For Parenting Plan Modifications In The Context Of Relocations Is A Matter Of Substantial Public Interest. The Supreme Court Should Definitively State What That Standard Is And That It Is Consistent With The Parenting Act's Requirement That Permanent Plans Be Changed Only When The Trial Court Makes Findings That the Change Is Necessary To Protect the Best Interest of the Child.		
	B.	Review Is Particularly Appropriate Per RAP 13.4(b)(4) Since There Are Different Court Of Appeals Decisions		
	C.	Review Should Be Granted So This Court Can Articulate The Modification Requirements Under The Full Context Of The Parenting Act		
VI	CONC	TI LISION 13		

# **APPENDICES**

	Page(s)
Appendix A:	Published Opinion, <i>In re Marriage of Laidlaw</i> , Wn. App, 409 P.3d 1184, 2018 WL 703349 (2018) A-1 to A-14
Appendix B:	Oral Argument Chart of School-Year Weekday Overnights by Parenting PlansB-1 to B-3
Appendix C:	Oral Argument Transcript

# TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Washington Cases						
Washington Cases						
<i>In re Marriage of Fahey</i> , 164 Wn. App. 42, 262 P.3d 128 (2011)						
In re Marriage of Laidlaw, Wn. App, 409 P.3d 1184, 2018 WL 703349 (2018)						
In re Marriage of Monoskie, 2017 WL 5905764 (Nov. 30, 2017)						
In re Marriage of Possinger, 105 Wn. App. 326, 19 P.3d 1109, rev. denied, 145 Wn.2d 1008 (2001)9						
McDole, 122 Wn.2d at 610						
Statutes and Court Rules						
RAP 13.4(b)(4)						
RCW 26.09.002						
RCW 26.09.184(1)(g)						
RCW 26.09.187						
RCW 26.09.191						
RCW 26.09.260(2)						
RCW 26.09.260(2)(c)						

#### I. INTRODUCTION

Petitioner John W. Laidlaw ("Petitioner" or "Jack"), appellant below, asks this Court to grant review to determine what substantive legal standard applies to a trial court's modification of a parenting plan after granting a petition to relocate. Here the trial court gave no rationale for why it made a material change to the 2013 parenting plan that took away 32 school-year, mid-week overnights from Petitioner and his daughter.

This is an unusual "relocation" case because the "relocating" parent, Respondent Danae Zoellin ("Respondent"), in fact sought to return from Issaquah back to Queen Anne, where she resided when the permanent parenting plan was first entered in 2013. Jack lived in Issaquah in 2013 and continues to live there. Respondent's "relocation petition" thus sought to return the parents to where they resided when the operative parenting plan was first entered in 2013 – everyone "goes back to go." But no findings or rationale supported why the trial court deleted 32 school-year, mid-week overnights when she returned the parents "back to go" to their places of residence when the 2013 plan was entered. Nor are there any findings that this major change to the parenting plan was required to protect their child from physical, mental, or emotional harm. Rather, the trial judge expressly found there were no restrictions on Petitioner as a parent. CP 759-60 ¶4.

Jack petitions because he has still not received any reason why the 2013 plan had to materially change when Respondent returned to where she lived when the plan was crafted in 2013 to foster a "robust" relationship between the child and both parents. Division I has said expressly that the trial court need not give one – the fact of relocation and the findings supporting the relocation are enough to support modification of the parenting plan, even though here there was not a genuine relocation but a "re-relocation." *See generally* Jack's Opening Brief describing the "re-relocation."

Divisions One and Three used different analyses and different standards in recent cases, both of which are now before this Court with petitions. The Court should grant review to establish the definitive standard, one that, unlike Division One's here, gives effect to and harmonizes the underlying principles of the Parenting Act with the policies adopted with the Relocation Statute, as well as all terms of the statute. The standard should require trial courts to articulate with express findings that any changes are necessary to maintain the best interests of the child.

While many relocation cases will have an obvious need to change the residential schedule (*i.e.*, when the parents move to different sides of the state or the country), there are also "near" relocation cases where the distance between the parents' homes is small and little if any change is needed – hence the "if any" language in the last sentence of RCW 26.09.260(6) that Division One ignored

in improperly following the erroneous *dicta* in *In re Marriage of Fahey*, 164 Wn. App. 42, 68, 262 P.3d 128 (2011). *See* App. A at 7 (quoting *Fahey*). Here that language should have been given effect since there was no change of the parents' locations from when the permanent parenting plan was entered in 2013. They "went back to go": Jack continued to live in Issaquah and Respondent returned to Oueen Anne.

#### II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Division One affirmed the trial court's major modification of the parenting plan and its fee award and other orders in a published decision filed February 5, 2018. *In re Marriage of Laidlaw*, \_\_\_\_ Wn. App. \_\_\_\_, 409 P.3d 1184, 2018 WL 703349 (2018) (App. A hereto "Decision"). The trial court's revised parenting plan eliminated 34 week-day overnights during the school year that Judge O'Donnell included in structuring the parenting plan in 2013 to foster and maintain a "robust" relationship of the young child with both parents. *See* App. B (oral argument chart of school-year weekday overnights by parenting plans); Jack's Reply Br. at 5-8.

The Decision construed RCW 26.09.260(6) to determine that there were no legal requirements that pertained to the modification of a parenting plan following relocation. App. A at 9-11. Instead,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Fahey's dicta is shown to be incorrect by the facts of this case. The statute itself refutes it by including "if any" in the last sentence of RCW 26.09.260(6) to reinforce that relocation does not always equate with a change to parenting plans, much less a dramatic change.

and contrary to the plain text of subsection 6, the Decision followed *Fahey*'s erroneous *dicta*<sup>2</sup> and held that no findings are needed whether and how the parenting plan is changed, beyond the findings required to support the relocation decision, because "Alterations to the residential schedule are a necessary byproduct of the trial court's order permitting relocation." App. A at 11.<sup>3</sup> This construction and application of the statute was erroneous for at least three reasons and appears to be built on the erroneous *dicta* in *Fahey*, which the Court should correct as part of its review of Jack's case.

*First,* this construction is contrary to and nullifies text in the last sentence of subsection (6). That sentence states: "Following that [relocation] determination, the court shall determine what modification pursuant to relocation should be made, *if any*, to the parenting plan or custody order or visitation order." RCW 26.09.260(6) (emphasis added). The words, "if any," contemplate

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> But *Fahey* was affirmed because in that case the trial court did articulate its reasons for modifying the parenting plan, reasons which were grounded in the best interests of the children, as opposed to the convenience of the relocating parent, and therefore were tenable. 164 Wn. App. at 67. Here the trial court gave no reasons for the change to the residential schedule. What brief, inadequate comments were made by the trial court did not focus on or analyze the best interest of the parties' daughter for purposes of modifying the parenting plan. She lost 34 weekday overnights during the school year with her father for no reason.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> It appears the Decision accepted the incorrect premise at oral argument that it is a "fact" that "the major change after the relocation decision is that the people won't live where they lived at the time that the initial order was entered." App. C at 4 (oral argument transcript). The facts here refute that premise, as Jack's briefing below pointed out repeatedly that this was a "re-relocation" case. There is no explanation for why the Court of Appeals Decision ignored this fact, which makes the *Fahey dicta* inapplicable.

that in some relocations there will be *no* change to the permanent parenting plan. But the Decision reads those words out of the statute, particularly with its incorrect statement that residential schedule alterations are a "necessary byproduct" of a relocation decision. App. A at 11.

Second, this construction ignores the statutory requirements and objectives of permanent parenting plans under RCW 26.09.002 and 26.09.184(1)(g) to place the best interest of the child first and not to make changes except to the extent necessary to serve those best interests. See, e.g., Jack's Reply Br. at 8-13. It also ignores the same requirement stated in RCW 26.09.260(2) that was pointed out by Division Three in *In re Marriage of Monoskie*, 2017 WL 5905764 (Nov. 30, 2017) which was untainted by Fahey's dicta.

Third, this construction is contradicted because in this "faux relocation" there was no change in parental location from the permanent parenting plan when it was entered. When the permanent parenting plan was entered in 2013 by Judge O'Donnell, the Petitioner father lived in Issaquah while the Respondent mother lived in Seattle, on Queen Anne. The so-called relocation petition filed by the Respondent mother in 2016 sought to allow the Respondent mother to relocate from . . . Issaquah back to Queen Anne, the same locations as when the original parenting plan was

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Respondent never formally relocated under the statute from Queen Anne to Issaquah when she moved there in 2014. Nor was that move reflected by a change in the parenting plan.

entered in 2013. Judge O'Donnell expressly stated that the structure of the plan – with its bi-weekly school-year weekday overnights – was necessary for the child to have a "robust" relationship with both parents.

Neither party sought reconsideration.

#### III. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Division One ruled in this case that trial courts have no legal restrictions or guidance when modifying permanent parenting plans following a decision to allow the primary parent to relocate, and implicitly ruled that the "if any" portion of RCW 26.09.260(6) has no effect because relocations always result in a modification of the parenting plan. It therefore affirmed the trial court's modification of the parenting plan that eliminated 32 mid-week overnights during the school year from the original parenting plan, even though the original plan was specifically designed to maintain a "robust" relationship between the child and both her parents, and even though the "relocation" returned the parents to their locations when the 2013 plan was entered.

Division Three ruled earlier in *Monoskie*, 2017 WL 5905764, that, in fact, legal standards do apply and must be met to modify a parenting plan's residential provisions after a relocation determination, and that RCW 26.09.260(2) requires retaining the residential schedule following relocation absent a showing the changes are necessary to prevent specified harms.

Thus the issues presented are:

- 1. Where RCW 26.09.002, 26.09.184(1)(g), and 26.09.260(2) all preclude material modifications of parenting plans unless necessary to protect the child from specified physical, mental, or emotional harms, must the Court vacate a material modification of the parenting plan that takes from the child her weekly overnight relationship with her father by removing 34 school-week overnights where there are no restrictions on the father and no findings that such a reduction in overnight time with the parent is needed or in the child's best interest?
- 2. Must a trial court's major modification of the parenting plan to delete 34 weekday overnights be vacated when the relocation returns the relocating parent to where she resided when the plan was originally put in place, there are no restrictions on the parent with the reduced time, and there are no findings specifying why this modification is needed to protect the child's best interests?

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The statement of the case is best set out in Jack's Opening Brief rather than in the Decision, which failed to mention numerous basic facts.

As stated earlier, the Decision erred in ignoring the material fact that the "relocation" simply sought to return the parties to where they were when the parenting plan was entered in 2013. On that basis alone the plan should not have been materially changed, absent findings as to what needs of the child required such changes.

The Decision also mistakenly focused on evidence from before the dissolution trial that the trial judge in the relocation trial said was not at issue and essentially dismissed by refusing to impose restrictions on Jack.<sup>5</sup>

Thus, two of the most important facts that are relevant to the appeal are that the relocation simply allowed the Respondent to move back to where she lived when the plan to be modified was first put in place and that the relocation judge placed no restrictions on Jack. There are no facts found by the trial court, and none in the record, that justify materially changing the parenting plan established when Respondent lived on Queen Anne by reducing so much of the regular overnight time the child has with her father.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The Decision also incorrectly focused on irrelevant and incorrect points about Jack's alleged domestic violence history, which along with relying on the erroneous *Fahey dicta* may explain why its decision erred in construing and applying the law correctly. It was irrelevant because Judge O'Donnell expressly constructed a parenting plan with overnights for Jack and his daughter **every week** in order to foster a "robust" relationship. *See e.g.*, Opening Br. at 1-4, 9-11; Reply Br. at 13-14. Judge Robinson in 2016 expressly refused to place any parenting restrictions on Jack. CP 759-60 ¶4.

As Jack's Reply Brief points out, Jack was never subject to a domestic violence protection order. Reply Br. at 13-14 n.6. Respondent's attempt to obtain such an order at the outset of the case in 2012 failed when the commissioner <u>denied</u> it as without basis. CP 1436; *see also* Reply Br. at 13-14 n.6, 20-22; CP 1436 (denial order); CP 1474-77 (referenced orders from the hearings in January and February 2012).

#### V. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

A. Review Should Be Granted Per RAP 13.4(b)(4) Because The Legal Standard For Parenting Plan Modifications In The Context Of Relocations Is A Matter Of Substantial Public Interest. The Supreme Court Should Definitively State What That Standard Is And That It Is Consistent With The Parenting Act's Requirement That Permanent Plans Be Changed Only When The Trial Court Makes Findings That the Change Is Necessary To Protect the Best Interest of the Child.

The Decision construed RCW 26.09.260(6) to require only findings for the relocation itself. App. A at 11. This ignores statutory language and the structure of the Parenting Act. Indeed, if not corrected, it eliminates any genuine analysis of the needs or best interests of the child of a relocating parent and the second part of the analysis. That is error for at least the three reasons noted earlier and additional ones noted here.

RCW 26.09.002 and 26.09.260(6) must be read together per RCW 26.09.184(1)(g), the statute that states the objectives of parenting plans. *In re Marriage of Possinger*, 105 Wn. App. 326, 334-35, 19 P.3d 1109, *rev. denied*, 145 Wn.2d 1008 (2001) ("RCW 26.09.184(1)(g) provides that parenting plans shall be designed '[t]o otherwise protect the best interests of the child consistent with RCW 26.09.002."").6

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> RCW 26.09.184(1) provides (emphasis added):

<sup>(1)</sup> **OBJECTIVES.** The objectives of the permanent parenting plan are to:

<sup>(</sup>a) Provide for the child's physical care;

<sup>(</sup>b) Maintain the child's emotional stability;

Review should be granted because the analysis used by the Decision fails to take into account the statutory framework of the Parenting Act, fails to give effect to all parts of the statute by ignoring the "if any" language, and will allow changes to parenting plans that are not needed to protect or further the child's best interests under the guise of a near- or non-relocation as here. The Decision is a "poster child" for how a child's best interests are ignored and undercut by losing the carefully crafted fully "robust" relationship with her father by excising 34 school-year weekday overnights, depriving them both of weekly overnights they had had under the 2013 plan when Jack lived in Issaquah and Respondent lived on Queen Anne. Review should be granted so the Court can clarify that such changes are allowed only when justified under the statutory criteria.

<sup>(</sup>c) Provide for the child's changing needs as the child grows and matures, in a way that minimizes the need for future modifications to the permanent parenting plan;

<sup>(</sup>d) Set forth the authority and responsibilities of each parent with respect to the child, consistent with the criteria in RCW 26.09.187 and 26.09.191;

<sup>(</sup>e) Minimize the child's exposure to harmful parental conflict;

<sup>(</sup>f) Encourage the parents, where appropriate under RCW 26.09.187 and 26.09.191, to meet their responsibilities to their minor children through agreements in the permanent parenting plan, rather than by relying on judicial intervention; and

<sup>(</sup>g) To otherwise protect the best interests of the child consistent with RCW 26.09.002

#### В. Review Is Particularly Appropriate Per RAP 13.4(b)(4) Since There Are Different Court Of Appeals Decisions.

Jack submitted an unpublished decision from Division Three as supplemental authority. *Monoskie*, 2017 WL 5905764, at \*2 (Nov. 30, 2017). The point he made was legal standards apply and must be met to modify a parenting plan's residential provisions after a relocation determination and that the decision showed that RCW 26.09.260(2) requires retaining the residential schedule absent a showing of specified harms. A significant point was that, while the relocation statute eliminated the adequate-cause requirement for considering a modification in conjunction with a relocation, it did not remove the standards for examining changes to a parenting plan. Division Three held:

While the relocation context streamlines a decision on the merits by avoiding the threshold requirement of adequate cause, a party seeking modification must still demonstrate that a change to the residential schedule is in the best interests of the child. This is no easy burden. 'Custodial changes are viewed as highly disruptive to children, and there is a strong presumption in favor of custodial continuity and against modification.' *McDole*, 122 Wn.2d at 610. The presumption of residential continuity is set forth at RCW 26.09.260(2). Pertinent to this case, this provision requires a court to retain the parties' current residential schedule 'unless . . . [t]he child's present environment is detrimental to the child's physical, mental, or emotional health and the harm likely to be caused by a change of environment is outweighed by the advantage of a change to the child.' RCW 26.09.260(2)(c).

Monoskie, 2017 WL 5905764, at \*2.

The petition for review in *Monoskie*, 2017 WL 5905764, was filed February 23, 2018.

Divisions One and Three thus have come to different conclusions about what legal requirements, if any, guide trial courts when considering whether to modify a permanent parenting plan under RCW 26.09.260(6), once the decision is made to allow one parent to relocate. These two cases illustrate the problem: each case would have been decided differently had they been heard in the other appellate jurisdiction. Per GR 14.1, even though the Division Three decision is unpublished, it still may be cited as persuasive authority. This creates ambiguity in the law, if not a technical conflict between the two decisions.

Disputes over relocations and associated parenting plan modifications that go to court because the parties cannot agree tend to be high-conflict cases. Certainty about the legal standard is therefore particularly important to end disputes. The parties and the lower courts will benefit from a definitive ruling from this Court on this important legal standard that affects parents and their children throughout the state regularly.

C. Review Should Be Granted So This Court Can Articulate The Modification Requirements Under The Full Context Of The Parenting Act.

Review should be granted so that the Court can clarify the legal requirement for modification of parenting plans following a

relocation decision involving a near- or non-relocation, which standards presumably would be met by a more far-flung relocation across the state or country. Jack suggests the Court specify that relocation decisions do not give a blank check for modifying parenting plans, but that any such modifications are subject to the same basic statutory requirements as other modifications, the criteria of RCW 26.09.002 as referenced in RCW 26.09.184(1)(g) and RCW 26.09.260(2): "the best interest of the child is ordinarily served when the existing pattern of interaction between a parent and child is altered only to the extent . . . required to protect child from physical, mental, or emotional harm." Further, this is implicitly recognized by the last sentence of RCW 26.09.260(6) – which need only be given proper effect: "Following that [relocation] determination, the court shall determine what modification pursuant to relocation should be made, if any, to the parenting plan . . . . " RCW 26.09.260(6) (emphasis added).

#### VI. CONCLUSION

Petitioner Jack Laidlaw asks this Court to grant review and schedule the case for argument as quickly as possible.