FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
4/6/2018 10:24 AM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No. 95590-5

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re the Marriage of

WILLIAM LAIDLAW Appellant

and

DANAE ZOELLIN fka DANAE LAIDLAW Respondent

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

PATRICIA NOVOTNY NANCY ZARAGOZA ZARAGOZA NOVOTNY PLLC Attorneys for Respondent 3418 NE 65th Street, Suite A Seattle, WA 98115 (206) 525-0711

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

D. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD NOT BE GRANTED.

Laidlaw fails to establish any basis for review of the Court of Appeals' decision, which affirmed a parenting plan (with relatively minor residential time adjustments entered pursuant to an intra-county relocation) and a modest award of attorney fees. RAP 13.2(b). There is nothing remarkable about this case except what it reveals about Laidlaw's ongoing litigiousness.

1. THE STATUTE AUTHORIZES TRIAL COURTS TO MODIFY PARENTING PLANS WHEN A PARENT HAS RELOCATED, GOVERNED, AS ALWAYS, BY THE CHILD'S BEST INTERESTS.

Laidlaw asserts that this Court must accept review "to determine what substantive legal standard applies to a trial court's modification of a parenting plan after granting a petition to relocate." Petition, at 1. But the

standard is clear to everyone but Laidlaw. *See* RCW 26.09.260(6) (permitting court to modify residential schedule where relocation granted); RCW 26.09.002 (best interests govern decisions about parenting); CP 776 (court declaring changes to residential schedule serve best interests of the child). See Br. Respondent, at 12-23. There is no reason for this Court to alter that standard, let alone to replace it with the substantive standard for modifications in non-Child Relocation Act (CRA) cases, as Laidlaw urges. Petition, at 7. Nor should this Court insert into the CRA procedure a requirement that the trial court must specify reasons for the residential schedule changes apart from the relocation itself (Petition, at 7), since the statute explicitly (and sensibly) makes relocation a basis for changes to the residential schedule.

The Court of Appeals correctly concluded the Child Relocation Act (CRA) and RCW 26.09.260(6) authorized the trial court to change the residential schedule following Zoellin's relocation. Division One rightly rejected Laidlaw's argument that such changes required an additional finding that the present residential schedule is harmful to the child (as with the modification standard under RCW 26.09.260(2)). *In re Marriage of Laidlaw*, - Wn. App. - , 409 P.3d. 1184, 1189 (2018). The court noted the

¹ The statute provides that the court, having permitted relocation, must then "determine what modification pursuant to relocation should be made, if any, to the parenting plan."

statute imposes no such requirement. *Id.* Rather, the relocation is the basis for modifying a parenting plan. *Id.*, at 1188, 1189. And the statute anticipates the parent's relocation will likely necessitate changes to the residential schedule, what Division One aptly described as a "necessary byproduct" of the relocation. *Id.*, at 1190. The statute does not require an additional showing that the now impracticable residential schedule is harmful.²

Laidlaw tries to breathe some life into his argument by relying on a recent unpublished decision from Division Three, *In Re Marriage of Monoskie*, 2017 WL 5905764 (Nov. 30, 2017).³ Division One rightly disagreed *Monoskie* has any relevance here.

Here, we have one child and two parents living in the same metropolitan area sharing residential time roughly 65/35 (not counting

(6) The court may order adjustments to the residential aspects of a parenting plan pursuant to a proceeding to permit or restrain a relocation of the child. The person objecting to the relocation of the child or the relocating person's proposed revised residential schedule may file a petition to modify the parenting plan, including a change of the residence in which the child resides the majority of the time, without a showing of adequate cause other than the proposed relocation itself. A hearing to determine adequate cause for modification shall not be required so long as the request for relocation of the child is being pursued. In making a determination of a modification pursuant to relocation of the child, the court shall first determine whether to permit or restrain the relocation of the child using the procedures and standards provided in RCW 26.09.405 through 26.09.560. Following that determination, the court shall determine what modification pursuant to relocation should be made, if any, to the parenting plan or custody order or visitation order.

² The pertinent subsection provides:

³ This case is pending review in this Court, scheduled for the court's petition calendar of June 5, 2018.

Wednesday afternoons). Pretty straightforward, unlike *Monoskie*, where the parents lived in different states and split residential among their five children (two children primarily resided with mother and two with father and the parents split the youngest child's residential time 50/50). Both parents sought to relocate to different states. Each parent opposed the other's relocation and each sought to have all five of the children placed in one home, his or hers. The trial court approved both relocations, retaining the existing primary residences for the four older children and placing the youngest with the mother. The mother appealed claiming the trial court based its decision on a perceived lack of authority to change the primary residences of the children (e.g., from father to mother, as mother requested). (The parenting plan permitted modification for the youngest child upon reaching a certain age, which had happened by the time this case was tried.) In other words, the trial court felt bound by the CRA to confer on each relocating parent a presumption in favor of custodial continuity and preserve their primary residential placements.

Division Three affirmed the trial court's application of the CRA, contrasting it with non-CRA modification procedures, but noting how both serve the interest in continuity of primary residential placements. Division Three rejected the mother's argument that she was entitled to a separate trial on her non-CRA-based claim, finding an additional trial pointless. *Id.*, at 3. But for the complexity of the family configuration, is nothing but a routine application of the Child Relocation Act by both the trial and

appellate courts. Division One understandably did not find it pertinent here, where none of the complexities exist. *Laidlaw*, 409 P.3d 1189 n.8.⁴

Here, the trial court never contemplated changing the child's primary residence and Laidlaw claimed no basis for doing so. Laidlaw's objection to Zoellin's relocation included a petition for a change in the residential schedule, essentially to 50/50, but cited no statutory basis, such as claimed by the mother in , i.e., detriment. CP 25, 31. He did not appeal the denial of this "modification" petition. simply bears no resemblance to this case. Laidlaw did not even make the same arguments -- at trial and or on appeal – as did the mother in . His effort to ride 's coattails makes no sense whatsoever.

Here, Division One affirmed the trial court's discretionary decisions to permit the primary residential parent to relocate across Lake Washington, and to make sensible changes to the parenting plan to reflect the geographic (and traffic) realities. That's all. The statute contemplates relocation as a reason to make changes to the parenting plan and authorizes the court to makes those changes. RCW 26.06.260(6).

Consistent with that analysis, Division One likewise rejected

Laidlaw's argument that the trial court was required "to articulate with

10

⁴ As Division One noted, the CRA analysis in many respects duplicates "the general predicates to modification of a parenting plan," such as the detriment standard. 409 P.2d at 1190.

express findings that any changes are necessary to maintain the best interests of the child." Petition, at 2. The statute does not require this step; rather, it contemplates "[a]lterations to the residential schedule are a necessary byproduct of the trial court's order permitting relocation," which is why they "are expressly authorized by statute." 409 P.3d at 1190.

2. IF THE COURT GRANTS REVIEW, IT SHOULD ALSO GRANT REVIEW OF THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION NOT TO AWARD ATTORNEY FEES ON THE BASIS OF INTRANSIGENCE.

If this Court accepts review, Zoellin asks the court also to review Division One's denial of her request for attorney fees based on intransigence. As set forth in detail in the briefing below and made manifest by the voluminous correspondence file, the clear pattern in this litigation is Laidlaw's abuse of the process, endlessly litigating, needlessly driving up costs to Zoellin, and resisting efforts to make him pay for those costs when so ordered. Here, Laidlaw fought tooth and nail to avoid paying Zoellin the modest fees awarded her, dragging everyone over a tortured path to the straightforward destination identified in RAP 8.1 (i.e., supersedeas). Yet the appellate court made Zoellin pay her own costs for these unnecessary trips back and forth to court. While this might be understandable if Laidlaw's conduct was isolated, it is not. In 2013, the court detailed Laidlaw's frightening and threatening conduct (see, e.g., CP

82: Laidlaw's "stalking and harassing behavior ... caused [Zoellin] to be in reasonable fear of her personal safety"). However, the court optimistically viewed Laidlaw's conduct as incidental to the upheaval of the divorce and, after taking precautions for the child's sake, provided for the "robust engagement" of both parents in the child's life. Five years after the divorce, Laidlaw continues his abusive use of conflict, this time with litigation as the mechanism. Laidlaw objected to the mother's relocation across Lake Washington, then appealed the court's decision permitting it. While within his rights to do both of these things, he has exercised these rights so as to inflict the greatest economic damage on Zoellin. His petition for review is more of the same, but Division One did not award Zoellin fees so she cannot request them for the cost of answering Laidlaw's petition and clarifying what this case actually is about. RAP 18.1(j).

In Washington, an award of attorney fees is justified where the conduct of one of the parties causes the other "to incur unnecessary and significant attorney fees." *Burrill v. Burrill*, 113 Wn. App. 863, 873, 56 P.3d 993, 998 (2002). It is not hard to foresee the kind of future for these parties as described by Justice Chambers, concurring in *In re Marriage of Katare*, 175 Wn.2d 23, 43, 283 P.3d 546 (2012) (Chambers, J., concurring), as "something out of a Charles Dickens, novel," dragging on

for years. There, Justice Chambers found *Katare* had "crossed the line to intransigence." *Id.* Laidlaw, too, has crossed that line, with the potential for more of the same. The parties' child is only nine, and Laidlaw's enthusiasm for conflict remains unabated. The cost to the mother is bad enough. The cost to the child is worse. The cost to Laidlaw should increase as a deterrent to future abuse.

E. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Danae Zoellin respectfully asks this

Court to deny review of John Laidlaw's petition. If the court grants

review, she asks the court also to consider the denial of fees by the court
below.